STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

06-11-2018 CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Appeal No. 18 AP 637

JORDAN B. MICKLEVITZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF

APPEALED FROM MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO. 15 CF 2777 THE HONORABLE CAROLINA STARK AND FREDERICK ROSA, PRESIDING

> KAY & KAY LAW FIRM BY: NOLAN A. JENSEN STATE BAR NO. 1091201 COUNSEL FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

675 North Brookfield Road Brookfield, WI 53045 (262) 784-7110

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Appeal No. 18 AP 637

JORDAN B. MICKLEVITZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. Did the circuit court erroneously deny the motion to suppress evidence gain from a protective sweep, when officers had no articulrable facts to support a reasonable inference that another person was inside Micklevitz's apartment.

The Trial Court answered:	"NO."
Appellant argues:	"YES."
Respondent would argue:	"NO."

II. Did the circuit court abuse its discretion in not reopening the suppression hearing testimony, when irrefutable evidence was uncovered that officers entered and remained inside the premises for more than 4 hours prior to the execution of a search warrant.

The Trial Court answered:	"NO."
Appellant argues:	"YES."
Respondent would argue:	"NO."

III. Was Atty. Kohn ineffective when he failed to review discovery which contained evidence that officers' "quick and limited" protective sweep actually lasted for more than 4 hours.

The Trial Court answered:"NO."Appellant argues:"YES."Respondent would argue:"NO."

IV. Was Atty. Kohn ineffective for failing to investigate and argue that officers had entered the curtilage of Micklevitz's apartment when officers bypassed the locked outer door.

The Trial Court answered:	"NO."
Appellant argues:	"YES."
Respondent would argue:	"NO."

IV. Was Atty. Kohn ineffective for failing to investigate and argue that officers conducted an illegal seizure the second Officer Chapman placed his foot inside Micklevitz's apartment door.

The Trial Court answered:	"NO."
Appellant argues:	"YES."
Respondent would argue:	"NO."

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Defendant-Appellant, Jordan Micklevitz, would be willing to participate in oral arguments if this Court believes it would be beneficial.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Defendant-Appellant, Jordan Micklevitz, does request publication as the issues related to the right to bear arms and the protection from search and seizure have historically been unpublished in Wisconsin. Moreover, this Court can further interpret and clarify the law related to the curtilege of multifamily homes, and what should be done when officers conduct a "quick and limited" protective sweep, which lasts for more than four hours.

STATEMENT ON THE CASE

This appeal arises from the trial court's Decision and Order Denying Motion for Postconviction Relief dated March 27, 2018, [R.86], issued by the Honorable Frederick C. Rosa and from the judgment of conviction entered by the Honorable Carolina Stark on February 17, 2017. [R.53]. For purposes of this appeal, Defendant-Appellant, Jordan Micklevitz, will hereinafter be referred to as "Micklevitz" and the State of Wisconsin will hereinafter be referred to as "State."

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 20, 2015, Milwaukee Police Squad #4227 was dispatched to 9099 N. 75th St. #206 to check for Micklevitz, who had a want for an allegation of misdemeanor battery. [R.93 at 8]. "A want is a law enforcement created investigative alert to other officers that the department wants to investigate the individual." [R.9 at 1]. A misdemeanor want is not an arrest warrant. That is to say, Officers may not enter the residence, restrain, detain, and/or arrest an individual based upon the 'want.'

To reach apartment #206 officers had to enter the locked common hallway of the apartment building. [R.75 at Exhibit E]. It is

unknown how officers circumvented the locked outer door to the common hallway. In the common hallway officers proceeded to Micklevitz's apartment door. Officers knocked on Micklevitz's door, identified themselves as maintenance, while covering the peephole. [R.93 at 10]. Ostensibly, they said maintenance, because if a person does not answer the door when maintenance is present, maintenance will enter upon their own authority.

A short time later an individual opened the door approximately six inches. The officers asked the individual if he was Jordan Micklevitz, to which Micklevitz replied "Yeah, Hold on." [R.93 at 10]. At this time Officer Chapman placed his foot inside Micklevitz's apartment. [R.93 at 10]. With Officer Chapman's foot inside Micklevitz's apartment, Micklevitz began closing the door. Officers stated, "police, stop pushing on the door." Officers indicated that they the could smell the odor of fresh marijuana emanating from the residence¹. A struggle ensued over the officers attempting to gain access to Micklevitz's apartment. Eventually officers sprayed Micklevitz with a 6 second burst of O.C. spray. [R.93 at 20]. Micklevitz let go of the door and stubbled to the ground, where he was detained by police. [R.93 at 20-1]. Within 10 seconds of opening

¹Four days later, after a conference with the Milwaukee District Attorney's office, Officer Zaworski issued Supplemental report No. 2, which indicated a faint smell of marijuana in the hallway. [Exhibit I]. This contradicts the affidavit to the search warrant which indicates marijuana was smelled only upon the opening of Micklevitz's door. [Exhibit C].

the door Micklevitz was detained, and within an additional 5 seconds Micklevitz was in the hallway. [R.93 at 24]. On Micklevitz, officers located a loaded Glock 380².

Micklevitz was escorted into the common hallway. Officers explained that once detained, they were unable to see anyone else in the apartment. [R.93 at 23].

Officer Zaworski decided to reenter the apartment because Micklevitz's armed resistive behavior caused him to believe others may be in the apartment. [R.93 at 27]. During this search officers saw magazines, and spent shell casings. However, in Officer Zaworski's supplemental report, after a charging conference with the Assistant District Attorney, Officer Zaworski claimed to have seen the shell casings when Micklevitz was first detained. This was during the 15 seconds officers were in the entry way of Micklevitz's apartment–Struggling to breath and see due to the affects of the O.C. spray. [R.93 at 24-25]. During this "quick" protective sweep which ensued, officers claim to have seen several pieces of contraband in plain view. [R.93 at 27].

According to the CAD report Micklevitz was taken into custody at 7:02 p.m. [R.75 at Exhibit F]. Metadata from photographs taken on scene show Micklevitz handcuffed and outside

² Micklevitz was inside his own home and in possession of a valid Wisconsin Concealed Carry License #178513.Micklevitz was also a member of the local gun range and an avid supporter of the Second Amendment.

the building at 7:32 p.m. A picture is taken of the outside of Micklevitz's apartment door at 7:35 p.m. Photographs are taken **inside** of Micklevitz's apartment at the following times:

Time	Number of Photographs	Brief Description
7:35pm	2	
7:36pm	1	An Officer is manipulating a Glock firearm.
7:38pm	2	A Scale is seen on table.
7:39pm	4	One photo shows a second officer's foot.
7:51pm	4	
7:52pm	5	Second officer pictured walking into apartment. Another photo shows an officer in Micklevitz's bedroom.
7:53pm	3	
7:54pm	7	Photos with Micklevitz's closet doors open. Additional photos taken with Micklevitz's gun safe open.
8:09pm	1	The scale from 7:38pm has been moved on the table

[R.74 at Exhibit A].

At 9:08pm Officers advise that they will be a while on scene because they are working on a search warrant. [R.75 at Exhibit F].

At 10:25pm the search warrant affidavit was approved by ADA Marissa Santiago. [R.75 at Exhibit C]. In said warrant, Officer Zaworski admits that Officer Jung field tested and weighed the tetrahydrocannabinols located inside the apartment and it came back with a weight of 41.3 grams. [R.75 at Exhibit C]. This field test is presumably during the brief protective sweep of the apartment.³

At 11:15pm, four additional photos are taken inside the apartment. [R.74].

At 11:44 pm, Judge T. Christopher Dee finally signs the search warrant allowing officers to search apartment #206. [R.75 at Exhibit C].

At the motion hearing, Officer Zaworksi claimed to have entered Micklevitz's apartment only three times before the issuing of the search warrant. [R.93 at 50-52]. (1) to arrest Micklevitz, (2) to search for confederates, (3) to get water for officers to deal with the effects of the O.C. spray. [R.93 at 50-52].

The aforementioned photos show that officers entered and remained inside apartment 206 for 4 hours and 9 minutes prior to the search warrant being signed. Moreover, officers were inside the apartment for two (2) hours and fifty (50) minutes prior to applying for a search warrant. [R:74 at Exhibit A].

Inside the apartment officers located marijuana and other controlled substances. Being an avid supporter of the Second

³ Additionally, Officer Zaworski cites to an "above-mentioned informant," however, no informant was ever mentioned. It is unclear if this was a typographical error, or if an informant was actually used by police. [Exhibit C at $\P 9$].

Amendment, Micklevitz's apartment also contained 21 firearms in a gun safe, thousands of rounds of ammunition, and other various hunting outfits and accessories. All of these items were confiscated from Micklevitz.

Attorney Steven Kohn filed a motion to determine the legality of the search on October 29, 2015. [R.7]. Attorney Kohn has admitted he does not recall the specifics of the case. According to Micklevitz, Attorney Kohn only discussed challenging the protective sweep, and no other searches of Micklevitz's apartment were discussed. [R.75 at Exhibit E]. Attorney Kohn only discussed three entry's of Micklevitz's apartment: (1) to arrest Micklevitz, (2) to conduct the protective sweep, and (3) to get water for the officers' eyes. The Court held, after the first motion hearing, that the basis for the search warrant was for the officer's three searches. [R.94 at 8].

The Court reasoned that the officers had a reasonable suspicion for the protective sweep citing: (1) the odor of fresh marijuana, (2) the defendant's resistive behavior (3) viewing a spent bullet casing and other ammunition, [R.74 at photograph 8, taken at 7:35pm] (4) finding a loaded handgun on the defendant. [R.94 at 9-10].

When Micklevitz learned of additional flaws in the officers' search, he retained Atty. James Goldmann. [R.101]. Atty. Goldmann

then filed a Motion to Suppress Fruits of Search of Premises on June 24, 2016. [R.32]. This was a motion to reconsider the circuit courts suppression decision. This motion was not the boilerplate motion previously filed by Atty. Kohn, but clearly addressed the specifics of Mr. Micklevitz's case. [R.32]. Atty. Goldmann challenged: (1) officers entering into the locked outer doors of the apartment building; (2) officers failure to follow the knock and announce rule; (3) illegal arrest of the defendant when he opened the door; (4) the forced entry into Micklevitz apartment; (5) the assault of Micklevitz as officers entered the apartment; (6) the illegal protective sweep. [R.32 at 2]. Further, Atty. Goldmann challenged the issuance of the warrant. [R.102 at 7].

The Court addressed Micklevitz's motion to reconsider on July 6, 2016⁴. The Court specifically addressed the first entry to arrest Mickelvitz as being waived. [R.102 at 4]. However, the Court took the decision a step further and held that all of Mickelvitz's arguments had been waived due to counsel not bringing them up at the prior hearing. The court ignored Atty. Goldmann's proof that officers' testified falsely or incorrectly at the first suppression hearing. [R.32 at 8].

⁴ The parties and Court proceed believing that Attorney Cheryl Ward conducted the first motion. However, Atty. Steven Kohn conducted the first motion hearing on January 14, 2016.

With the adverse motion decision, Micklevitz plead guilty to counts 1 and 2. [R.112]. This decision was made even though a witness was willing to testify that the marijuana located at the apartment was hers. [See R.106].

For both counts Micklevitz received a concurrent sentence of 3 years of initial incarceration and 2 years of extended supervision. [R.113]. With these felony convictions, Micklevitz was precluded from exercising his Second Amendment rights. [R.75 at Exhibit D]. A notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief was filed on March 7, 2017. The court of appeals granted extensions for filing of the postconviction motion on September 19, 2017 and November 27, 2017. [R.70, 72].

A postconviction motion was filed with the circuit court on December 29, 2017. [R.73-75]. The circuit court requested additional briefing on the issues on January 2, 2018. A State's response was filed on February 28, 2018 and the Micklevitz's reply was filed on March 22, 2018. [R.81, 84]. The circuit court issued its Decision and Order on March 27, 2018. [R.86]. The notice of appeal was timely filed on April 2, 2018. [R.87]. This appeal now follows.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT INCORRECTLY HELD THAT OFFICERS HAD THE REQUIRED ARTICULABLE FACTS TO SUPPORT A PROTECTIVE SWEEP.

The United States Supreme Court established the law related to protective sweeps in *Maryland v. Buie*, 494 U.S. 325 (1990). There it was held that an officer could conduct a protective sweep "if the searching officer possessed a reasonable belief based on specific and articulable facts which, taken together with the rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warranted the officer in believing that the area swept harbored an individual posing a danger to officers or to others." *Id.* at 327 (internal quotation and citation omitted).

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has repeatedly recognized the

United States Supreme Court rule regarding protective sweeps.

Once inside an area a law enforcement officer may perform a warrantless "protective sweep," that is, "a **quick and limited** search of the premises, incident to an arrest and conducted to protect the safety of police officers or others. Under **Buie** a law enforcement officer is justified in performing a warrantless protective sweep when the officer possesses " a reasonable belief based on specific and articulable facts which, taken together with the rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warranted the officer in believing that the areas swept harbored an individual posing a danger to the officer or others."

State v. Sanders, 2008 WI 85 ¶32 (emphasis added).

In Micklevitz's case, officers did not have the required articulable facts to support the belief that Micklevitz's apartment harbored and individual posing a danger to the officers.

The Court listed four reasons which it held justified the protective sweep. Those were the following: (1) the odor of fresh marijuana, (2) the defendant's resistive behavior, (3) viewing of a spent bullet casing and other ammunition, (4) recovering a loaded handgun on Mickevlitz. [R.94 at 9-10]. None of these reasons made it reasonable for officers to believe another individual was inside Micklevitz's apartment.

First, the odor of fresh marijuana has no relation to a protective sweep. Nothing about the odor of fresh marijuana creates a "rational inference" that officers needed to sweep the apartment to protect the officers. Holding so would completely vacate the warrant requirement in drug cases.

The circuit court then claimed that the odor of fresh marijuana meant that officers needed to search the apartment to ensure evidence was not destroyed. [R.94 at 9]. This reason, again, has no relation to the protection of officers, which was the main reason behind the holding in *Buie*. Moreover, the circuit court's attempt to make this an exigent circumstances based upon the odor of marijuana is incorrect.

The odor of marijuana was described by officers as being "fresh" marijuana – not burnt. [R.93 at 31]. Two cases show why the smell of fresh marijuana does not create the exigent circumstances required for a warrantless entry. *See Generally State v. Hughes*, 2000 WI 24, 233 Wis.2d 280, 607 N.W.2d 621 and *State v. Phillips*, 15AP927 (Cited persuasively attached at 6).

In *Phillips*, the court of appeals distinguished the case from the case of *Hughes*. *Id.* at ¶¶29-30. Because the marijuana was fresh and not burnt, and because there was no articulable facts showing that other individuals were in the apartment, there was not enough facts to conclude evidence may be destroyed. *Id.* at ¶¶29-30.

Moreover, as *Hughes* makes clear, the odor of a burning drug alone does not created an exception to the warrant requirement. *State v. Hughes*, 2000 WI 24, ¶¶27-28, 233 Wis.2d 280, 607 N.W.2d 621. Here, officers did not smell burnt marijuana, they smelled fresh marijuana. [R.93 at 31]. This means there was no fear that evidence was actively being destroyed or consumed. Additionally, officers did not have any articulable facts that anyone else was in the apartment.

Second, a defendant's armed resistive behavior does not create a reasonable suspicion to justify a protective sweep. Holding so would create a blanket rule allowing officers to search whenever an individual resists. Arguably, even in *Buie*. the defendant was resisting officers by attempting to hide in the basement of the building. *Buie*. at 328. Nothing about Micklevitz's resistive behavior, made it more likely that other individuals posing a danger to police were inside Micklevitz's apartment.

Additionally, Micklevitz answering the door while armed is understandable. Micklevitz's apartment building has a lock on the outer door. [R.75 at Exhibit E]. No one had sought to enter his apartment building through the intercom system. Instead, someone was covering the peephole, knocking on his door, and shouting maintenance. [R.93 at 10]. Being an avid supporter of the Second Amendment it was logical that Micklevitz would answer the door armed. It is even more predictable that Micklevitz may, when surprised by officers in the locked common area of the apartment, want to return the firearm to its safe, prior to meeting with officers.

To the circuit courts third and fourth reasons for the protective sweep, Micklevitz being armed, in his own home, and having ammunition, in his own home, does not create a reasonable suspicion that other individuals are within the home. Holding the opposite would act to limit a persons Fourth Amendment Rights when exercising his or her Second Amendment Rights. The State used a similar argument in the case of *State v*. *Schwartz*, 356 Wis. 2d 327, 855 N.W.2d 492 (unpublished, cited persuasively attached at 7). There it was claimed that an empty gun magazine and a rifle round on the table near the defendant "made it possible that someone else in the residence was armed and might ambush police." *Id.* at ¶8. The court of appeals in *Schwartz* affirmed the suppression of drug evidence.

The Court of Appeals came to a similar decision in *State v. Kruse.* 175 Wis. 2d 89, 499 N.W.2d 185 (1993). There, Kruse was arrested inside his apartment for a felony burglary warrant and for making threats with a .357 magnum. *Id.* at 92. Officers knew of the warrant, the threat, and that another individual lived with Kruse in the apartment. *Id.* at 97. Officers knowing that another individual lived in the apartment, and may have access to a .357 magnum, did not create the reasonable suspicion required to perform a protective sweep. *Id.* at 98. The court held that the evidence used in a later warrant was fruit of the initial illegal search. *Id.*

Nothing about Micklevitz exercising his Second Amendment Rights makes it more likely that confederates were lurking in his home. In fact, many individuals exercise their Second Amendment Rights to protect against individuals lurking in their homes. Moreover, Micklevitz had the required license to be in possession of the concealed firearm at the time of his arrest. [R.75].

The articulable facts with "rational inferences from those facts" did not make it reasonable for officers to believe Micklevitz's apartment harbored an individual posing a danger to the officer or others." *State v. Sanders*, 2008 WI 85 ¶32, 311 Wis. 2d 257, 752 N.W.2d 713.

Without addressing the officers clear violation of the "quick and limited" portion of the Protective Sweep Doctrine, the circuit court's decision on the original motion was incorrect. This Court should remand with an order to reverse the suppression decision.

II. COURT THE CIRCUIT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN NOT REOPENING TESTIMONY ADDRESS TO THE NEW **EVIDENCE AND ISSUES THAT WERE NOT BROUGHT TO THE COURTS ATTENTION IN** THE ORIGINAL MOTION.

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