RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 08-29-2018

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP637-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JORDAN BENNETT MICKLEVITZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT BY THE HONORABLE CAROLINA STARK, PRESIDING, AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED BY THE HONORABLE FREDERICK C. ROSA, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

The independent source doctrine is one such exception. "As applied to circumstances where an application for a warrant contains both tainted and untainted evidence, the

issued warrant is valid if the untainted evidence is sufficient to support a finding of probable cause to issue the warrant" and constitutes an independent source. *State v. Carroll*, 2010 WI 8, ¶ 44, 322 Wis. 2d 299, 778 N.W.2d 1. Probable cause for a warrant to issue requires that it state sufficient facts to raise "an honest belief in a reasonable mind that the objects sought are linked with the commission of a crime, and that the objects sought will be found in the place to be searched." *State v. Starke*, 81 Wis. 2d 399, 408, 260 N.W.2d 739 (1978). If police would have sought a search warrant absent the "tainted" evidence, and the magistrate would have granted it, there is an independent source for the evidence and it should not be excluded. *Carroll*, 322 Wis. 2d 299, ¶ 45.

Here, the warrant application still states probable cause even if the evidence found during the protective sweep from the warrant is stricken. (R. 75.) Only paragraphs seven and eight would be omitted. (R. 75:5–9.) As the circuit court noted, the warrant still would have listed the strong odor of marijuana coming from the apartment, Micklevitz's attempts to close the door after he realized police were there, the fact that the police believed he was resisting in order to destroy the marijuana, and that they found a handgun in Micklevitz's back pocket after they subdued him. (R. 75:5–6.) Those are sufficient facts to raise an honest belief that evidence of illegal drug possession and possibly trafficking will be found in the apartment. *Starke*, 81 Wis. 2d at 408.

Micklevitz has not contested—or even mentioned—the court's determination that the officers had probable cause for a warrant and would have sought one even without the sweep. He has therefore conceded that the circuit court was correct on this point. Wis. Dep't of Nat'l Res. v. Building and All Related or Attached Structures Encroaching on Lake Noquebay Wildlife Area, 2011 WI App 119, ¶ 11, 336 Wis. 2d 642, 803 N.W.2d 86 (Appellants who do not challenge a circuit court's ruling on a particular point on appeal are deemed to

have conceded its validity.). The officers would have sought and obtained a search warrant for the apartment and found all of the evidence Micklevitz sought to suppress even had the protective sweep never occurred. (R. 94:12.) Because the officers would have legally discovered the evidence that way, the circuit court properly refused to suppress the evidence even if the protective sweep was unjustified.

II. Micklevitz's postconviction motion was insufficiently pled to entitle him to an evidentiary hearing.

A. Standard of review

Whether Micklevitz sufficiently pled his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel to trigger a hearing presents a mixed standard of review. *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 9, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433. This Court must first determine if Micklevitz alleged sufficient facts that, if true, would entitle him to relief. This is a question of law and is reviewed de novo. *Id.* "If the motion fails to allege sufficient facts, the trial court has the discretion to deny the motion without an evidentiary hearing." *State v. Phillips*, 2009 WI App 179, ¶ 17, 322 Wis. 2d 576, 778 N.W.2d 157 (citation omitted). "This discretionary decision will only be reversed if the trial court erroneously exercised that discretion." *Id.*

B. Relevant law

It is well-settled that the right to counsel contained in the United States Constitution⁵ and the Wisconsin Constitution⁶ includes the right to the effective assistance of counsel. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686. A defendant who asserts ineffective assistance must

⁵ U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV.

⁶ Wis. Const. art. I, § 7.

demonstrate: (1) counsel performed deficiently, and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. *Id.* at 687.

Merely asserting ineffective assistance of counsel is not sufficient to warrant a hearing on the claim. *Phillips*, 322 Wis. 2d 576, ¶ 17. To receive a hearing, Micklevitz had to allege sufficient material facts that, if true, would entitle him to relief. *State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶ 18, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334. If Micklevitz didn't allege sufficient material facts, or presented conclusory allegations, or if the record conclusively demonstrated he wasn't entitled to relief, the circuit court could exercise its discretion and deny his motion without a hearing. *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 309–10, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996).

A motion satisfies the "sufficient material facts" standard when it "allege[s] the five 'w's' and one 'h'; that is, who, what, where, when, why, and how." *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 23. It must include enough facts to allow the circuit court to meaningfully assess the defendant's claim. Id. ¶ 21. Meaning, Dunn's motion had to contain sufficient facts to establish deficient performance and prejudice under *Strickland*.

The motion had to contain facts that established that "counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. "Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential." *Id.* at 689. "Counsel need not be perfect, indeed not even very good, to be constitutionally adequate." *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 19, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305 (citation omitted).

The motion also had to contain sufficient facts to establish that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. "It is not sufficient for the defendant to show that his counsel's

errors 'had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding." *State v. Domke*, 2011 WI 95, ¶ 54, 337 Wis. 2d 268, 805 N.W.2d 364 (citation omitted).

Given the standard of review for denying a *Machner* hearing, this Court typically reviews only the allegations contained in the postconviction motion, not any additional allegations contained in the defendant-appellant's brief. *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 27.

C. Micklevitz's motion consisted only of conclusory allegations, and the facts he alleged would not warrant relief even if true.

The postconviction court properly denied Micklevitz's motion without a *Machner* hearing. His motion contained only conclusory allegations of deficient performance that were based on misstatements of the law. And even if Micklevitz had properly pled his motion, an attorney is not deficient for making a reasonable strategic decision to focus on one claim over others or for failing to make meritless arguments. Micklevitz also failed to show prejudice, and the record shows that there is not a reasonable probability that his suppression motion would have been successful had Kohn advanced the claims Micklevitz now makes. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it summarily denied his motion.

1. Kohn's failure challenge \mathbf{to} the officers' entry into the apartment not building was deficient prejudicial because the curtilage of Micklevitz's apartment does extend to the entire building or the locked front door.

Kohn was not deficient for failing to argue that the officers "entered the curtilage of Micklevitz's apartment when the officers bypassed the locked outer door." (Micklevitz's Br.

20.) Micklevitz appears to argue that the front door to the building was curtilage to Micklevitz's apartment simply by virtue of his apartment being inside a building with a locking front door. This claim is squarely foreclosed by *State v. Dumstrey*, 2016 WI 3, ¶ 4, 366 Wis. 2d 64, 873 N.W.2d 502, and *United States v. Dunn*, 480 U.S. 294 (1987). An attorney's decision not to advance a legal theory rejected by the Wisconsin Supreme Court cannot be unreasonable, and there is no probability that a motion advancing this theory would have succeeded. *See State v. Maloney*, 2005 WI 74, ¶ 37, 281 Wis. 2d 595, 698 N.W.2d 583.

"The protection provided by the Fourth Amendment to a home also extends to the curtilage of a residence." *Dumstrey*, 366 Wis. 2d 64, ¶ 23 (citation omitted). "[T]he curtilage is the area to which extends the intimate activity associated with the sanctity of a person's home and the privacies of life and therefore has been considered part of the home itself for Fourth Amendment purposes." Id. (citation omitted). To determine whether an area constitutes curtilage, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has "adopted four factors set forth by the Supreme Court" in Dunn. Id. ¶ 32. One, "the proximity of the area claimed to be curtilage to the home." *Id.* (citation omitted). Two, "whether the area is included within an enclosure surrounding the home." Id. (citation omitted). Three, "the nature of the uses to which the area is put." *Id.* (citation omitted). And four, "the steps taken by the resident to protect the area from observation by people passing by." *Id*. (citation omitted).

The home and its curtilage are not the only places protected by the Fourth Amendment, though. A Fourth Amendment violation occurs from warrantless police intrusion into a particular place if the person "manifested a subjective expectation of privacy" in the area that "society

accepts as objectively reasonable." California v. Greenwood, 486 U.S. 35, 39 (1988).

Micklevitz's claim that the front door was curtilage to his apartment simply by virtue of the apartment being in a building is foreclosed by *Dumstrey*. Indeed, the Wisconsin Supreme Court in *Dumstrey* noted that "it is important to distinguish between the apartment building and Dumstrey's actual home." *Dumstrey*, 366 Wis. 2d 64, ¶ 35. The court stated, "His home cannot reasonably be said to constitute the entire apartment building Surely, his 29 fellow tenants would not consider their individual apartments to be a part of Dumstrey's home, and Dumstrey could not reasonably contend otherwise." *Id.* ¶¶ 35–37. Because Micklevitz's curtilage analysis rests on an assumption that the entire building constitutes curtilage to his apartment, it must fail.

Micklevitz's assertion also fails all four of the Dunn factors. First, the locked outer apartment door is not in proximity to Micklevitz's apartment. The apartment is on the second story, (R. 93:10), a completely different floor than the front door. See Dumstrey, 366 Wis. 2d 64. ¶ 37 (garage below the apartment building was not proximate to the apartment for Fourth Amendment purposes). Second, the locked front door and the entire interior of the building is not "included within an enclosure" surrounding Micklevitz's home simply because his apartment was in the same building. Id. ¶ 39 (parking garage is not included within an enclosure surrounding the apartment simply by virtue of being part of the apartment building). Third, the interior of the building, including the front door, is used by others and their guests to access their own apartments, as well as anyone else entering the building such as delivery persons, maintenance workers, and prospective tenants. Micklevitz cannot reasonably contend that accessing his apartment through an area that every other tenant has access to and also uses for ingress and egress constitutes conducting intimate or private activities of the home. See id. ¶ 41. Finally, Micklevitz took no steps to shield the interior of the building behind the door from the other tenants or from anyone else. There is no reasonable argument that the locked front door and the building at large constituted curtilage for Fourth Amendment purposes.

The only other question, then, is whether Micklevitz had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the entire interior of the locked building. This inquiry depends on the totality of the circumstances. Dumstrey, 366 Wis. 2d 64, ¶ 47. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has identified six relevant factors for this analysis. Id. They are whether the defendant: (1) had a property interest in the premises; (2) was lawfully on the premises; (3) "had complete dominion and control and the right to exclude others"; (4) took precautions customarily taken by those seeking privacy; (5) put the property to some private use; and (6) "whether the claim of privacy is consistent with historical notions of privacy." Id. (citation omitted).

The totality of the circumstances shows that Micklevitz had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the building or the front door. There is no real dispute that Micklevitz had a property interest in the property and was lawfully on the premises. But none of the other factors support Micklevitz's position. Micklevitz had no "dominion and control" over the front door or the rest of the building. Id. ¶ 49. He had no authority whatsoever to exclude other tenants or their guests from entering the building. Id. Indeed, it is possible that another tenant opened the locked door for the police, which Micklevitz had no authority to prevent. Micklevitz took no precautions to seek privacy within the hallway or the front door "from the countless strangers that could be present daily." Id. And he has made no argument that he puts the building at large to some private use other than walking to his apartment door. *Id.* Finally, "historical notions of privacy are simply not consistent with such a large number of people having the same right of access" as Micklevitz himself. Id.

Micklevitz had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the front door or the hallways of the building. *Cf. United States v. Barrios-Moriera*, 872 F.2d 12, 14–15 (2d Cir. 1989) ("Here the police entry was into a common hallway, an area where there is no legitimate expectation of privacy . . . even though the area was guarded by a locked door") *abrogated on other grounds by Horton*, 496 U.S. at 130.

Micklevitz has made no argument to the contrary. In both his postconviction motion and his brief, Micklevitz does not actually apply any of the *Dunn* factors; he merely states that they exist. (R. 73:9; Micklevitz's Br. 23–24.) Likewise, he discusses the general Fourth Amendment concepts the court mentioned in *Dumstrey*, but does not apply them. (R. 73:8–9; Micklevitz's Br. 21–24.) Further, the State fails to understand how Micklevitz reached the conclusion that "The Wisconsin Supreme Court [in *Dumstrey*] stated that the common storage area in an apartment building's basement was 'clearly within the curtilage' of the home." (R. 73:8; Micklevitz's Br. 22.) In the passage Micklevitz quotes, the Wisconsin Supreme Court was quoting Dumstrey's brief while explaining the parties' arguments, which quoted a passage from Conrad v. State, 63 Wis. 2d 616, 633, 218 N.W.2d 252 (1974). Dumstrey, 366 Wis. 2d 64, ¶ 24. The supreme court noted that more recent United States Supreme Court and Wisconsin cases were inconsistent with Conrad and that it was likely no longer good law. $Id. \P\P 24-33$.

Micklevitz's only attempt to show that *Dumstrey* supports his claim that the entire building constitutes curtilage is a general reference to "concept[s]" raised in the concurrence, and one conclusory statement relying on the dissent. (R. 73:9; Micklevitz's Br. 23 ("reviewing the dissenting opinion, the hallway outside of Micklevitz's apartment is within the curtilage of his home.").) The dissent is not the law. Moreover, Micklevitz makes no argument that he had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the doorway, the

building in general, or the hallway. (*Id.*) The postconviction court properly denied his motion without a hearing on this ground because his motion was inadequately pled, and his claims are inadequately briefed to warrant relief from this Court.

2. Kohn's failure challenge to officers' Micklevitz's entry into apartment was neither deficient nor prejudicial because police and probable exigent cause circumstances allowing them to enter.

The warrant requirement gives way "where the government can show both probable cause and exigent circumstances that overcome the individual's right to be free from government interference." *Hughes*, 233 Wis. 2d 280, ¶ 17. Where probable cause for an entry, rather than an arrest, is at issue, probable cause requires a "fair probability" that entry—which is considered a search—will yield evidence of crime. *Id.* ¶ 21 (citation omitted). This Court considers the reasonableness of law enforcement's conduct, not its ultimate correctness. *State v. Robinson*, 2010 WI 80, ¶ 26, 327 Wis. 2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463.

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